
 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 
To:  Members of the Pinelands Climate Committee 
 
From:  Susan R. Grogan 
  Executive Director  
 
Date:  July 8, 2024 
 
Subject: Meeting materials 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Enclosed please find the agenda for the Pinelands Climate Committee’s upcoming meeting on 
Wednesday, July 17, 2024. We have also included the following: 
 

• The minutes from the April 17, 2024 Committee meeting; and 
 

• The preliminary draft Dual-Use Solar Energy Pilot Program Rules recently posted by the New 
Jersey Board of Public Utilities  

 
Please note that the meeting agenda also includes an update from staff on the New Jersey Department of 
Environmental Protection’s proposed Resilient Environments and Landscapes (REAL) rule.  The draft 
rule and background information can be accessed here: https://dep.nj.gov/njreal/ 

 
The Committee meeting will be conducted in-person and via teleconference. Specific access information 
will be provided to all Committee members in a separate email. The public will be able to attend the 
meeting in-person or view and participate in the meeting through the following YouTube link: 
www.youtube.com/c/PinelandsCommission 
 
 
 
 

https://dep.nj.gov/njreal/
http://www.youtube.com/c/PinelandsCommission


 

 
PINELANDS CLIMATE COMMITTEE MEETING 

 
July 17, 2024 – 9:30 a.m. 

 
This meeting will be held in-person and virtually 

Richard J. Sullivan Center for Environmental Policy and Education 
Terrence D. Moore Conference Room 

15C Springfield Road  
New Lisbon, New Jersey  

Watch the meeting on the Pinelands Commission’s YouTube channel:  
www.youtube.com/c/PinelandsCommission 

To Provide Public Comment, Please Dial: 1-929-205-6099 Meeting ID: 846 4436 9535 
 
 

Agenda 
 

1. Call to Order 
 

2. Adoption of the April 17, 2024 Climate Committee meeting minutes 
 

3. Update on state and legislative initiatives  
 

• NJDEP REAL proposed rules 
• BPU Dual Use Solar Energy Pilot Program draft rules 

 
4. Update on office initiatives  

 
5. Discussion of FY24 accomplishments and FY25 Climate Committee work plan 
 
6. Public comment 
 
 
 

http://www.youtube.com/c/PinelandsCommission


1 
 

PINELANDS CLIMATE COMMITTEE MEETING 
This meeting was conducted in-person and available remotely. 

The public could view/comment through Pinelands Commission YouTube link: 
https://www.youtube.com/c/PinelandsCommission 

Meeting ID: 842 0206 4549 
April 17, 2024 

 

MINUTES 

MEMBERS IN ATTENDANCE:  Chairman Mark Lohbauer, Commission Chair Laura E. 
Matos, Jerome H. Irick, Mark Mauriello, and Jessica Rittler Sanchez  

MEMBERS ABSENT: Theresa Lettman, Jonathan Meade 

STAFF PRESENT: Susan R. Grogan, Stacey P. Roth, Gina Berg, Brad Lanute, John Bunnell, 
Ernest Deman, Jessica Lynch, and Dawn Holgersen. Also present was Laura Wilton, with the 
Governor's Authorities Unit.  

1. Call to Order   
 

 Chairman Lohbauer called the Pinelands Climate Committee meeting to order at 9.32 a.m.  
 
2. Adoption of minutes from the February 14, 2024 Pinelands Climate Committee 

meeting 

Commissioner Mauriello moved the adoption of the minutes of the February 14, 2024 
Committee meeting. Commissioner Rittler Sanchez seconded the motion. Commissioner Rittler 
Sanchez requested an edit to add clarification to one paragraph. All voted in favor.   

3. Update on state and legislative initiatives 

Gina Berg delivered a presentation on the Statewide Draft Water Supply Plan (attached to these 

minutes) 

Ms. Berg said that the draft plan was released in February. She said the Water Supply Plan has 
been issued by the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP) since 1982. 

She said the upcoming plan will replace the previous plan released in 2017. She said the 
upcoming plan is in the draft phase, with the public comment period open until April 26, 2024.  

She said the plan is not a regulatory document, but it is used in the water management rule 
section of the Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP). 

Ms. Berg said topics in the draft water supply plan include current demand, major uses of water, 
water sources, anticipated changes in demand or supply, and recommendations for administrative 
actions.  

She said new content in the plan included sections for the Pinelands and Highlands areas, climate 
impacts, per- and poly-fluoroalkyl substance hotspots, demand methodology using a three-year 

https://www.youtube.com/c/PinelandsCommission


2 
 

peak demand, supply methodology change to exclude discharges to saline water, overburdened 
communities safe drinking water, and a closer look at individual study areas and aquifers that are 
alternatives to the Kirkwood-Cohansey (K-C). 

She described a chart depicting water withdrawal sources, their uses, whether they may be 
consumptive or non-consumptive, and where they discharge. She said the next chart outlined 
water use trends with details on withdrawals by source. She also described a chart depicting 
water use trends from 1990 to 2020. 

Ms. Berg said that demand projections up to the year 2050 were for major water purveyor areas. 
She said the projections exclude small community and individual, domestic use wells. She said 
that many parts of the Pinelands Area are projected to see a decrease in water demand, except for 
a portion of Ocean County. She said a portion of Ocean County in the areas of Lakehurst and 
Lakewood would see a small increase in demand.  

She said that there are small, overburdened communities that are located where an aquifer has 
limited water available for future growth. She said, in the Pinelands Area, the communities are in 
Pemberton, Southampton, North Hanover, Buena Vista, and Egg Harbor Townships. 

She said the draft plan included a section on climate change. She said evaluations were made 
based on temperature increases, precipitation increases and variability, and sea level rise. She 
said the plan outlines impacts to water resources and water supply due to climate change.  

She explained the impacts of climate change on water supply withdrawal sites threatened by a 
five-foot sea level rise. She said that some of the projected impacts to K-C wells are outside of 
the Pinelands Area. She said they would still be of importance because they are used by major 
water purveyors that supply water to Regional Growth Areas in the Pinelands. 

Ms. Berg said that the draft plan included the Mullica and Great Egg Harbor study area. She said 
its primary source of water is the K-C aquifer. She said that ecosystems and agricultural uses in 
the area are dependent on the K-C aquifer. She said the 2050 demand scenario indicates a 50% 
higher demand than 1998-2006. She said there is a recommendation to assess the implications of 
the CMP water management rules in this area. 

She said the draft plan added a section specifically for the Pinelands Area. She said that it 
outlines the CMP water management rules. 

She described a set of maps for remaining water available based on the CMP standard of a 20% 
low flow margin. She said the draft plan uses a 25% low flow margin. She said that the newer 
map indicates that the Pinelands Area would be in better shape than previously noted. She 
mentioned areas on the map that depict where new well applications could proceed.  

Ms. Berg said the methodology for calculating peak demand would change to a three-year 
average as opposed to a single-year average that was previously calculated. She said this would 
be a positive change for development in Regional Growth Areas. She said the three-year average 
is a less conservative calculation and could be less protective of ecosystems experiencing erratic 
rainfall patterns and flash droughts. 



3 
 

She said some recommendations that could be presented for the draft plan would be to maintain 
and expand monitoring networks and assessment tools, updating models and methods to use 
Hydrologic Unit Code 12 basins instead of Hydrologic Unit Code 11, performing research for 
climate change risk to water availability for more granular temporal and spatial scales to improve 
estimates, research climate change impacts on water demand, reform NJDEP policies to drive 
vulnerability assessments and mitigation based on climate change risks to infrastructure, 
environmental justice assessments for water supply, expand coordination with neighboring 
states, water policy modernization, water quality accountability, and to evaluate K-C rules in the 
CMP for impacts to water availability. 

She recommended that the Commission provide comments on  the draft plan, including: general 
support for the plan and new components; support for the approach to estimating peak demand 
using three-year average peak instead of one-year demand for planning purposes; encouraging 
further consideration of implications of the CMP water management rules adopted in December 
2023; further consideration of saltwater intrusion for small, domestic use wells and inundation of 
those wells due to sea level rise; support for the recognition that discharges to saltwater are lost 
without substantial investment in desalination; and calling for additional study and reporting on 
non-agricultural irrigation and domestic well demand in the coastal south. 

Commissioner Rittler Sanchez commented that the draft plan is a substantial improvement from 
the plan released in 2017. She asked if the draft plan mentions water re-use. Ms. Berg replied 
that the draft plan does not have much information regarding beneficial re-use of water. She said 
the CMP water management rules summary details ways to address deficit and stormwater 
recharge as an offset.  

Commissioner Irick asked if the draft plan would introduce restrictions on water use allocation 
for agricultural use. Ms. Berg said that the plan does not have direct language that would indicate 
any restrictions. She said the plan outlined a study that focused on water use in agriculture. She 
said a number of farms signed up to participate in the study. She said the study helped to clarify 
the amount of land that would be irrigated for an agricultural operation. 

Commissioner Irick expressed concern for a potential deficit based on decreased rainfall in the 
summer months despite excess rainfall in previous months. Ms. Berg said that the draft plan does 
have information regarding flash drought scenarios.  

Commissioner Irick suggested the use of the one-year average peak demand to more accurately 
depict the potential need for water in agricultural use. 

Ms. Grogan said that the water supply plan, when completed, will be effective for five years. She 
said the plan appears to recommend studies in preparation for the next plan. Ms. Berg added that 
the plan is not a rule, but a set of guidelines to understand water demand. 

Chairman Lohbauer asked if an effort is being made to identify a way to replace water that is lost 
to saltwater infiltration and discharges to saltwater. Ms. Berg said that would tie into the 
discussion of beneficial re-use, which is not addressed in the plan. 

Chairman Lohbauer commented that he noticed an increase in rainfall over time. Ms. Berg 
confirmed the plan calculations predict an increase in rainfall.  



4 
 

Commissioner Rittler Sanchez asked if the plan included information for inter-basin or inter-
watershed transfer. Ms. Berg said the plan does not directly discuss inter-basin transfer. 

Commissioner Mauriello commented that while the plan is not a rule, NJDEP will use it in their 
regulatory process. He commented that NJDEP handles water re-use in their regulatory 
programs. He expressed concern about the lack of focus on the use of treated wastewater. He 
suggested a comment be made to bring attention to the subject. 

Commissioner Rittler Sanchez agreed with Commissioner Mauriello’s statement. She said the 
issue with using treated wastewater seems to be the strict NJDEP rules in the level of treatment 
for the water before it can be used. 

Ms. Berg said the state has a number of aquifer storage and recovery wells. She said there is 
hesitance in transferring water from the K-C aquifer to a lower aquifer due to a difference in 
quality. She said that the use of treated wastewater presents a cost issue. 
 
Stacey Roth delivered a presentation on the New Jersey Board of Public Utilities (NJBPU) 
Community Solar Energy Program (attached to these minutes). 

Ms. Roth said the focus of her presentation will be on the Successor Solar Incentive (SuSI) 
Program.  

She said the SuSI program has two parts: the Administrative Determined Incentive Program for 
projects smaller than 5mw and the Competitive Solar Incentive Program for projects larger than 
5mw. 

She said the purpose of the Community Solar Energy Program would be to broaden access to 
solar energy by enabling electric utility customers to participate in a solar energy facility 
remotely located from their own homes or businesses and receive credit on their utility bills. 

She said the program’s importance would be in promoting fair and equitable access to the State’s 

renewable energy policies. She said the program would provide access to clean energy for utility 
customers unable to place clean energy generation on their own properties. 

She said the Clean Energy Act was signed into law on May 23, 2018. She said it required 
NJBPU to implement a Community Solar Pilot Program with adoption of permanent rules within 
36 months of the program starting. She said NJBPU adopted the rules for the pilot program in 
January 2019. She said the pilot program was launched February 2019. She said the focus of the 
pilot program was to provide access for low- and moderate-income customers to community 
solar and allow development without compromising preservation of open space or protected 
lands.  

She said the application period for the first year of the pilot program opened in April 2019 and 
closed September 2019. She said NJBPU received 252 applications representing 652-megawatt 
(MW) capacity. She said NJBPU approved 45 projects with 78MW capacity in December 2019. 
She said 20 of the projects totaling 44MW capacity reached commercial operation. 

Ms. Roth said the application period for the second year of the pilot program opened in October 
2020 and closed February 2021. She said NJBPU received 412 applications representing 



5 
 

804MW capacity. She said NJBPU approved 105 projects with 165MW capacity. She said as of 
the November 2023 deadline, nine projects totaling 5.8MW capacity were completed.  

She said the permanent Community Solar Energy Program (CSEP) was established on August 
16, 2023 through board order. She said the program allocated annual MW capacity blocks based 
on electric distribution companies. She said the energy year (EY) for MW block allocation is 
from June 1 to May 31. She said the EY24 block expires on May 31, 2024 and will be 
immediately replaced with EY25 MW allocations 

She said the original intent of the CSEP would be to approve applications on a first-come, first-
served basis. She said in the first-year registration period of November 15, 2023 to November 
28, 2023, all applications were considered submitted on the same date. She said if capacity was 
fully subscribed for a particular electric distribution company, the tie breaker would be based on 
the highest guaranteed bill credit to customers. She said the registration portal opened on 
December 12, 2023. 

She said the CSEP program requires projects to be 5MW or less in size. She said the capacity 
would be measured as the sum of the name place capacity in direct current rating of all 
photovoltaic panels comprising the project. She said the facility placement location is limited to 
rooftops, carports and canopies over impervious surfaces, contaminated sites and landfills, and 
bodies of water with little or no established flora or fauna. She said that resource extraction sites 
and ponds were removed as an approved location. 

Ms. Grogan said that during a discussion was with NJBPU, she suggested that resource 
extraction sites and ponds be added as an approved location, as these are one of the few locations 
where solar facilities are permitted by the CMP in certain management areas. 

In response to Commissioner Rittler Sanchez’s question on the calculation of total capacity for a 
project, Ms. Roth said the calculation is based on the labeled capacity of the panels and not the 
functioning capacity. 

Ms. Roth said eligibility requirements include a site plan certified by a licensed professional 
engineer, submission of an interconnection application and agreement signed by the installer for 
projects up to 1MW, written authorization from the electric distribution company providing 
conditional approval to construct and milestone reporting form for projects over 1MW, evidence 
of all discretionary land use approval, and a guaranteed bill credit discount to be offered to 
subscribers. She said projects on contaminated sites\landfills must meet additional NJDEP 
requirements.  

She said the program would require projects to have at least 51% reserved capacity for low- to 
moderate-income subscribers, an escrow of $40 per KW for the proposed facility to be refunded 
upon receipt of permission to operate or forfeited if the facility does not commence commercial 
operation before conditional registration expires, and the submission of a community 
engagement and subscriber acquisition plan. 

She said that allocations to electric distribution companies are based on their average respective 
percentage of in-state, retail electric sales. She said the total allocation for EY24 was 224MW. 



6 
 

She said that projects that received conditional acceptance in the Transition Incentive (TI) 
program but did not reach commercial operation by the deadline may apply for the CSEP. She 
said the capacity for TI projects would not count toward the EY24 MW allocation block. She 
said the applicants must meet all other requirements and must commit to guaranteed bill credit 
from their original TI application to be exempt from capacity limits. 

Ms. Roth said P.L. 2023, c.200 was signed on January 4, 2024. She said the law revised the goal 
of annual capacity for solar energy projects to be approved under CSEP, added an additional 
275MW for EY25 if qualified projects exceed the 225MW allocation, added an additional 250 
MW if qualified projects exceed 500 MW allocation, added an additional 150MW per year 
thereafter, taking into account any changes to the Solar Renewable Energy Certificate program. 
She said NJBPU intends to open an additional 275MW of capacity for EY24. 

She said Senate Bill 1392 and Assembly Bill 4131 would establish the Office of Energy Equity 
and require NJBPU to establish on-site or community solar programs that would benefit 250,000 
low-income households or 35% of the State’s low-income households, whichever is larger, by 
2030. She said the goal is to reduce energy burden for those households to below six percent of 
the household income. She said the bills would establish 1.600MWh of energy storage by 2030 
to benefit overburdened communities and provide access to solar energy projects through the 
permanent CSEP in accordance with the requirements of the bill.  

Chairman Lohbauer asked if there are any applications for community solar projects currently 
under Commission review. Ms. Grogan replied that the Commission is aware of some potential 
projects that applied for the pilot program that did not reach the permitting process and would 
have to reapply for the CSEP. 

Commissioner Irick inquired about the topic of energy grid capacity in the CSEP. Ms. Roth said 
that the CSEP did not have any provisions for grid modernization. Commissioner Irick expressed 
concern that some projects that were not completed may have been affected by potential energy 
grid capacity issues. 
 
Stacey Roth provided information on Senate Bills 2816 and 2827. She said both Senate bills do 
not have companion bills in the Assembly.  

She said that Senate Bill 2816 would require utility companies to create an electric infrastructure 
improvement plan and submit the plan to NJBPU. She said the purpose of the plan would be to 
reopen many of the State’s electric distribution circuits that were closed to additional renewable 
energy installations. She said the plans would not require improvements to transmission lines. 
She said it also gives NJBPU authority to disapprove the plans. 

Ms. Roth said that Senate Bill 2827 would require gas public utilities to develop and implement 
a utility innovation plan. She said the purpose of the plan would be to reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions associated with natural gas through the use of innovative technologies. She said the 
plan would be effective for five years and would allow the recovery of implementation costs 
through the use of rate changes. She said the plan would also require annual reporting to NJBPU. 
She said there is also a role for NJDEP to ensure greenhouse gas reduction calculations are 
formulated using the same methods.  



7 
 

 

4. Update on office initiatives 

Jessica Lynch delivered a presentation with updates on the electric vehicle charging systems 
(attached to these minutes).  

Ms. Lynch said the Commission applied for grants through NJBPU to purchase electric vehicle 
charging systems. She said the Commission was advised to consult Jersey Central Power and 
Light to ensure transformer capacity for the charging systems. The consultation confirmed 
transformer capacity for the systems. She said that confirmation was necessary of the 
Commission facility’s electric grid capacity to support the charging systems. She said the facility 
grid currently lacks the capacity to add the systems. She said that upgrades would be necessary 
to support the addition of charging systems. 

She said that New Jersey State Contract T3138 was issued with an effective date of March 18, 
2024 and ending date of March 17, 2027. She said the contract would require agency approvals 
prior to issuing a purchase order for electric vehicle service equipment. She said that the receipt 
of three quotes would be required as per the method of operation. She said the using agency must 
accept the lowest quote, unless there is a Small Business Enterprise (SBE) or Disabled Veteran 
Owned Business (DVOB) quote. She said the exception would allow a 15% pricing difference 
above the lowest non-SBE or non-DVOB quotes.  

She said there are various components that can be selected individually for purchase through the 
contract. Commissioner Rittler Sanchez inquired as to the lead time for the purchase of the 
charging systems. Ms. Lynch replied that it varies based on the items purchased and it is detailed 
in the contract. 

 Ms. Lynch said that once the grid upgrade is completed the Commission intends to install one, 
level two, dual charging station. 

She said the Commission would also have the option to issue a separate request for quotes in lieu 
of utilizing the state contract.  

In response to Commissioner Irick’s inquiry, Ms. Grogan confirmed that there are grants 
available for application and the Commission would have to seek vendor quotes to understand 
the costs involved. She said the Commission currently has funds set aside to contribute to the 
purchase of the charging systems.   

Commissioner Rittler Sanchez inquired about the possibility of upgrading the Commission 
facility’s electric grid to support a fast-charging system. Ms. Lynch said the cost would be much 
greater. 
 
Gina Berg delivered a follow-up presentation on the evaluation of economic impacts in Regional 
Growth Areas, Pinelands Towns, and Pinelands Villages related to climate change 
recommendations (attached to these minutes). 



8 
 

Ms. Berg said the Commission staff is currently developing a work plan for the Long Term 
Economic Monitoring Program funded by the National Park Service. She said this project relates 
to the climate change impacts to Pinelands Management Area boundaries.  

She said an assessment was previously requested for growth-oriented management areas for 
impacts of climate change. She said the factors considered were sea level rise, riverine flooding, 
and fire hazards.  

She said that the Policy and Implementation Committee adopted new or expanded acquisition 
target areas at the February 2024 meeting. She said the National Park Service work plan will 
include an economic evaluation of potential zoning changes and buffer requirements that were 
recommended.  

She said funding for the evaluation project would be provided by the National Park Service long 
term economic project in federal Fiscal Year 2024. She said the goal of the project would be to 
evaluate the economic impacts to growth potential due to recommended actions. 

Ms. Berg said the estimated timeline for the evaluation project would begin in October 2024 with 
the analysis of potential development and existing development value. She said the analysis 
would be completed in April 2025. She said the analysis and comparison of losses from making 
the change versus not making changes would be completed in May 2025. She said the findings 
would be delivered to the Committee in July 2025 with the report to the Commission to be 
delivered in August 2025. 
 

5. Public Comment 

Heidi Yeh, from the Pinelands Preservation Alliance, expressed appreciation to the 
Commissioners and Commission staff for the presentations and discussions. 
 
There being no further discussion, Commissioner Irick moved the closing of the meeting. 
Commissioner Rittler Sanchez seconded the motion. The meeting was adjourned at 11:29 a.m. 

 

Certified as true and correct: 

 

 
Dawn Holgersen 
Technical Assistant 
July 5, 2024 
 

 



Pinelands Climate Committee 4/17/2024 Minutes Attachment A

1

2024 Statewide 
Water Supply Plan 
Highlights
Draft Plan April 2024

Authority
T2he 1981 New Jersey Water Supply Management Act (N.J.S.A. 58:1A-1 et. seq.) directs the
NJDEP to develop and periodically revise the New Jersey Statewide Water Supply Plan
(NJSWSP or Plan) in order to improve the management and protection of the State’s water
supplies.

19961982

20031983

20171985
20241987

1991
1993

Updated Water Supply Plan
• Previous plan was released in 2017
• Draft Plan

• 60-Day Public Comment Period – open until April 26, 2024

• Not a regulatory document (except LFM in N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.86)

• Topics:
• Current demand - addresses where water is currently used
• Major uses of water

• commercial, potable, industrial, ag/irrigation
• Consumptive, non-consumptive

• Where the water is sourced (surface, confined, or unconfined aquifers)
• Anticipated changes in demand or supply (out to 2050)
• Recommendations for administrative actions

3 7/5/2024 New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection – Division of Geosciences

New Content

4 7/5/2024 Add a footer

Pinelands and Highlands sections

Climate impacts

Per- and poly fluoroalkyl substances hotspots (PFOS, etc)

Demand methodology: 3-year peak demand 

Supply methodology change: discharges to saline water excluded

Overburdened communities safe drinking water

Closer look at individual study areas & aquifers that are alternatives to the K-C

1 2

3 4



Pinelands Climate Committee 4/17/2024 Minutes Attachment A

2

Figure 2.1 Steps completed to develop water availability analyses Figure 4.10 how statewide water withdrawals are distributed by use group and returned, discharged, or lost 

Water Use Trends
Withdrawals by Source

2016 - 2020

7 7/5/2024 Add a footer

Water Use 
Trends

8 7/5/2024 Figure 4.3 Water use by sector excluding power generation

Withdrawals by Use: consumptive & non-
consumptive use in graph, consumptive only

- Potable Agriculture/Irrigation

- Commercial/Industrial/Mining

- Power Generation is mostly non-consumptive and is 
not shown

5 6

7 8



Pinelands Climate Committee 4/17/2024 Minutes Attachment A

3

Year 2050 Demand Projections

9 7/5/2024 Figure 4.16 of WSP

Major water purveyors

Population based projection: % increase in population

Anticipates 10% conservation (not the 2018 detailed estimate of 
conservation based on land use density & per capita demands)

Map shows 2050 demand as a percentage change over 2020 
demand

Note: most of Pinelands Area projected to decrease demand –
except in Ocean County

Does not account for widespread use of small community and 
individual, domestic use & irrigation wells across the Pinelands

Indication of decreasing per capita demand but potential increase 
of irrigation use due to climate change

Small Overburdened 
Communities 
• Overlap of OBCs located in HUCs where 

unconfined aquifer has limited water 
available (mostly K-C)

• may include small community systems 
like mobile home parks or other small 
systems under 10 acres of service area

• Winslow Township OBCs in Limited HUCs 
but also…

• Pemberton Twp, Southampton Twp, 
North Hanover Twp, Buena Vista Twp, & 
Egg Harbor Township

10 7/5/2024 Figure 5.16.  Overburdened communities outside a public community water system service area

Community Systems 
Treatment Objectives

-Arsenic, Iron nitrate: nearly everywhere

-Radionuclides, PFAs, manganese 
removal also reported: less widespread

-Other organics 

11 7/5/2024 Add a footer Figure 3.5 Evaluation of Climate Change Impacts to Water Resources

9 10

11 12



Pinelands Climate Committee 4/17/2024 Minutes Attachment A

4

Impacts of Climate Change on 
Water Supply Withdrawal Sites 

13 7/5/2024 Figure 3.10 of WSP

Public community withdrawals flooded  with 5 – ft 
sea level rise
• Withdrawal on the Pinelands periphery
• But provide water supply to Pinelands RGA
Represents potential for 
• Need to find other/new location for water 

diversion
• Threat of additional saltwater intrusion to the 

Kirkwood-Cohansey aquifer (red dots)
• Pumping 
• Surface inundation/seepage

Projected Effects of Climate Change on Groundwater Recharge

Mullica and Great Egg 
Harbor Study Area
K-C primary source of water

Ecosystems highly dependent on K-C

Significant agricultural uses also highly 
dependent on K-C

2050 demand scenario 50% higher than 
1998-2006  based on potable demand and 
additional ag. Water use certifications

Recommendation to assess implications of 
NJAC 7:50-6.86

15 7/5/2024 Figure 6.12 of WSP

Pinelands Section 
added

16 7/5/2024 Pinelands pages

“DEP coordinates with the Pinelands Commission 
staff to ensure that the water supply permits it 
issues comport with the CMP goals and 
objectives.”

13 14

15 16



Pinelands Climate Committee 4/17/2024 Minutes Attachment A

5

2017 vs 2024 
20% LFM:

Relationship 
to CMP Water 
Management 

Standards 

17 7/5/2024 Add a footer

Changes in Water Availability

Potentially less protective of ecosystems experiencing erratic rainfall 
patterns & “flash” droughts

New well applications could proceed in more HUC-11s

Greater volume remaining available from the Low Flow Margin

Result in lower average demand generally

Peak demand now a 3-year average

Low Flow Margin unchanged

Some Water Supply Plan Recommendations   

19 7/5/2024 Add a footer

Maintain & expand water 
monitoring networks and 

assessment tools

Maintain & expand water 
monitoring networks and 

assessment tools

Update models and 
methods to use HUC-12 

basins instead of HUC-11

Update models and 
methods to use HUC-12 

basins instead of HUC-11

Climate change risk to 
water availability research 

for more granular temporal 
& spatial scales to improve 

estimates (temp, precip, 
short-term changes, HAB)

Climate change risk to 
water availability research 

for more granular temporal 
& spatial scales to improve 

estimates (temp, precip, 
short-term changes, HAB)

Research climate change 
impact on demand

Research climate change 
impact on demand

Reform DEP policies to 
drive vulnerability 

assessments & mitigation 
based on climate change 

risks to infrastructure

Reform DEP policies to 
drive vulnerability 

assessments & mitigation 
based on climate change 

risks to infrastructure

Environmental Justice  
regional/community 

assessments for water 
supply

Environmental Justice  
regional/community 

assessments for water 
supply

Expand coordination with 
neighboring states 

(Delaware River & Passaic 
& Hackensack watersheds

Expand coordination with 
neighboring states 

(Delaware River & Passaic 
& Hackensack watersheds

Water policy 
modernization (water loss 

audits & asset 
management)

Water policy 
modernization (water loss 

audits & asset 
management)

Water quality 
accountability (oversight of 

smaller systems, 
infrastructure failure 

affecting quality

Water quality 
accountability (oversight of 

smaller systems, 
infrastructure failure 

affecting quality

*Evaluate CMP K-C rule 
impacts to water 

availability

*Evaluate CMP K-C rule 
impacts to water 

availability

Comments:

20 7/5/2024 Add a footer

General support for the plan and new components 

For planning purposes, support the 2024 Water Supply Plan approach to 
estimating peak demand using  3-year average peak instead of 1 – yr peak 
demand
Encourage further consideration of implications of CMP Water Management 
rules adopted in December 2023

Further consideration of saltwater intrusion for small, domestic use wells, 
and inundation of those wells due to sea level rise

Support recognition that discharges to saltwater are “lost” without 
substantial investment in desalinization

Call for additional study and reporting on non-agricultural irrigation and 
domestic well demand in the coastal south

17 18

19 20



Pinelands Climate Committee 4/17/24 Minutes Attachment B

1

Board of Public Utilites 
Community Solar Energy Program

Climate Committee Meeting
April 17, 2024

Community Solar Energy (CSE) Program

• Aims to broaden access to solar energy by enabling electric utility 
customers to participate in a solar energy facility remotely located 
from their own homes or businesses and receive a credit on their 
utility bills.

• Important to promoting fair and equitable access to NJ's renewable 
energy policies

• Provides access to clean energy for utility customers unable to place 
clean energy generation on their own properties

CSE Pilot 
Program

• May 23, 2018, Clean Energy Act was signed into Law 
(P.L. 2018, c. 17)

• CEA required BPU to implement a Community Solar 
Pilot Program within 210 days of enactment and 
permanent program within 36 mos. Adoption of 
rules for pilot program

• BPU adopts rules for CSE Pilot Program January 
2019

• BPU launches the Community Solar Pilot Program in 
February 2019

• Focus of Pilot Program: Low- and Moderate Income 
(LMI) customer access and development of CS 
development without compromising preservation of 
open space or protected lands

1 2

3 4



Pinelands Climate Committee 4/17/24 Minutes Attachment B

2

PY 1

• Application period for first year pilot 
opened April 2019 and closed September 
2019

• Received 252 applications representing 652 
MWs capacity

• December 2019, Board approved 45 projects 
with 78 MWs capacity

• Of those 20 projects totaling 44 MWs 
capacity reached commercial operation

PY 2

• Application period for second year 
pilot opened October 2020 and closed 
February 5, 2021

• Received 412 applications representing 804 
MWs capacity

• October 2021, Board approved 
105 projects with 165 MWs capacity

• As of July 2023, 9 projects totaling 
5.8 MWs capacity were completed. 
Remaining projects had a November 2023 
completion deadline

Permanent
CSE Program

• Established 8/16/23 through Board Order

• Program allocates Annual MW Capacity 
Blocks based on Electric Distribution 
Companies

• Energy Year for MW Block Allocation runs 
June 1 to May 31 (EY 24 started June 1, 2023 
to May 31, 2024)

• EY24 MW Block expires on May 31, 2024 
and is immediately replaced with EY25 MW 
allocations.

Permanent
CSE Program

• Participation in CSEP is first come, first serve

• For initial year, BPU established registration 
period from November 15, 2023 through 
November 28, 2023. All registration 
applications submitted during this window 
were considered submitted on same date

• If capacity was fully subscribed for a 
particular EDC, then tie breaker based on 
highest guaranteed bill credit to customer

• Registration portal opened December 12, 
2023

5 6

7 8



Pinelands Climate Committee 4/17/24 Minutes Attachment B

3

Program Requirements

• Projects 5 MWs or less in size

• MWs measured as sum of the name plate capacity in direct current 
rating of all photovoltaic panels comprising project

• Location Limited to:
• Rooftops
• Carports and Canopies Over Impervious Surfaces
• Contaminated sites and Landfills
• Bodies of Water with little to or no established flora or fauna (i.e. floating 

solar on water treatment reservoirs and dredge ponds

Program Requirements

• Eligibility Requirements:
• Site plan certified by licensed professional engineer
• Up to 1 MW facility, submission of Interconnection Application and 

Agreement signed by Installer
• Facilities 1MW or greater, written authorization from EDC providing 

conditional approval to construct and milestone reporting form
• Evidence of all discretionary land use approval (e.g. site plan approval, 

variances, county approvals, soil conservation district approval, Pinelands 
Commission approval, etc. and a signed list of all permit for which applicant 
will apply.)

• Guaranteed bill credit discount to be offered to subscribers
• Projects on contaminated sites/landfills additional NJDEP related 

requirements

Program requirements

• Project must have at least 51% guaranteed/reserved LMI subscribers

• Escrow of $40.00 per KW of DC for facility (public entities and 501(c)3 
organization maybe exempt from escrow with staff approval), fully 
refunded upon receipt of permission to operate or forfeited if facility 
does not commence commercial operation before conditional 
registration expires

• Community Engagement and Subscriber Acquisition Plan

EDC Allocations - EY24
• Annual MW capacity is allocated to EDCs based on their average 

respective percentage of in-state retail electric sales
• For EY24 – Total Allocation was 225 MWs

Capacity 
Remaining 
MW (dc)

Capacity
Subscribed MW 
(dc)

MW (dc) Capacity
Blocks EY24

EDC Territory

CLOSED65.1465 MWJCP&L

CLOSED131129 MWPSE&G

CLOSED31.40527 MWACE

2.021.984 MWRECO

9 10

11 12



Pinelands Climate Committee 4/17/24 Minutes Attachment B

4

Incomplete 
TI Projects

• CSE Projects that received conditional 
acceptance in the Transition Incentive 
(TI) program but did not reach 
commercial operation by the deadline 
may apply for the CSEP

• Solar capacity for TI projects does not 
count toward to EY24 MW allocation 
block

• However, must meet all other 
requirements and must commit to 
guaranteed bill credit discount from 
their original TI application to be exempt 
from capacity limits

P.L. 2023, c.200
signed 1-4-24

• Revises goal of annual capacity for 
solar energy projects to be approved 
under CSEP

• Added additional 275MWs for EY24 if 
qualified projects exceed the 225 MW 
allocation.

• Added additional 250 MWs if 
qualified projects exceed 500 MW 
allocation

• And an additional 150 MW per year 
thereafter, taking into account any 
changes to the SREC program

• Per Act, BPU intends to open an 
additional 275 MWs of capacity for 
EY24.

S1392/A4131

• Bills would require BPU to:
• Establish on-site or community solar 

programs which would benefit 250,000 
low-income households or 35% of the 
States low-income households, 
whichever is larger, by 2030.

• Goal – reduce energy burden for these 
households to below 6% of household 
income.

• Establish 1,600 MW hours of energy 
storage by 2030 to benefit overburdened 
communities

• Provide access to solar energy projects 
through the permanent CSEP in 
accordance with the requirements of the 
bill

Questions???? Interested in More Information?

https://njcleanenergy.com/renewable-
energy/programs/susi-program/csep

13 14

15 16



Pinelands Climate Committee 4/17/24 Minutes Attachment C

1

New Jersey State Contract T3138
Electric Vehicle Service Equipment – Statewide 

• Effective Dates:  March 18, 2024, to March 17, 2027

• Agency approvals prior to issuing a Purchase Order:

1. Department of Treasury, Division of Administration
2. New Jersey Office of Homeland Security and Preparedness
3. New Jersey Office of Information Technology

• Three quotes are required as per the Method of Operation.

• Using agency must take the lowest quote, unless there is a SBE 
(Small Business Enterprise) or DVOB (Disabled Veteran –Owned 
Business) quote, then there is a 15% pricing consideration above 
the lowest non-SBE or non-DVOB received.

1









Pinelands Climate Committee 4/17/24 Minutes Attachment D

1

EVALUATION OF 
ECONOMIC IMPACTS 
IN RGA-PT-PV 
RELATED TO CLIMATE 
CHANGE 
RECOMMENDATIONS

PINELANDS MANAGEMENT AREA BOUNDARY 
ANALYSIS
• Assessment of  growth-oriented management 
areas for impacts of  climate change 

• Climate factors considered
• Sea level rise

• Riverine flooding

• Fire hazards

• Follow through
• February P&I adopted new/expanded 

acquisition target areas

• NPS work plan to include an economic 
evaluation of potential zoning changes and 
buffer requirements recommended

2

LOCATION MAP: 
PINELANDS MANAGEMENT AREA BOUNDARY  
RECOMMENDED ACTIONS TO ADDRESS CLIMATE 
CHANGE HAZARDS AREAS TO BE EVALUATED

3

RECOMMENDED ACTIONS

Follow-
up

Recommended Action(s)Location

Mandatory 300ft wetlands buffer in select areasNew Gretna

Mandatory 300ft wetlands buffer and additional buffer in select 
areas

Sweetwater & Lower 
Bank

partial1. Expand Acquisition Target Area (1 of 20 areas already 
designated by Commission)

2. Possible Density Transfer Program within the Village

Port Elizabeth-
Bricksboro Village

xContinue to target for acquisition and preservationHamilton Township 
RGA

xInclude in a new Acquisition Target AreaPemberton Township 
RGA

4

1 2

3 4



Pinelands Climate Committee 4/17/24 Minutes Attachment D

2

NATIONAL PARK SERVICE LONG-
TERM ECONOMIC PROJECT
FEDERAL FISCAL YEAR 2024 
(OCT 2024 – SEPT 2025)

GOALS

• Evaluate the economic impacts to growth 
potential due to recommended actions 

• Impacts of  change vs. doing nothing

• Look at how/where there is overlap of  
targeted zoning changes with 
environmental justice communities

TASKS

7

Analyze existing and potential 
development: parcel mapping, 
development status, application 

status

Developed parcels valuation: 
Apply tax assessment data to 

parcels, corrected by municipal 
adjustment factor & 

characterized by type of  
development

Undeveloped parcels: apply 
permitted uses, factor in 

wetlands & wetlands buffers, 
generate estimates of  potential 

nonresidential SF or units

Undeveloped parcel potential 
valuation: Apply municipal 

valuation of  similar 
development to potential 

development

Analyze loss reductions: using 
the above data, tabulate loss 

reductions with recommended 
changes

Prepare report, deliver 
findings

TIMELINE

Completion ScheduleTasks

October 2024 – April 2025
Analysis of potential development & existing 
development value

May 2025
Analyze & compare losses from change vs. no change

May - July 2025
Report preparation

July 2025Deliver Findings to Climate Committee

August 2025Report to Commission

8

5 6

7 8



Pinelands Climate Committee 4/17/24 Minutes Attachment D

3

QUESTIONS

9



    
  
 
 

 

1 
 

Christine Guhl-Sadovy 
President 

 
Dr. Zenon Christodoulou 

Marian Abdou 
Michael Bange 

Commissioners 

State of New Jersey 
Governor Philip D. Murphy 
Lt. Governor Tahesha L. Way 
 
Board of Public Utilities 
 
 
www.nj.gov/bpu/ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

NOTICE 
 

IN THE MATTER OF 
THE DUAL-USE SOLAR ENERGY PILOT PROGRAM  

 
REQUEST FOR COMMENTS 

 
Docket No. QO23090679 

 
Staff of the New Jersey Board of Public Utilities ("NJBPU" or "Board") invites all interested parties and members of 
the public to provide written comments on the preliminary draft rule for the Dual-Use Solar Energy Pilot Program 
(“Pilot Program”). 
 
BACKGROUND AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY 
 
In July 2021, Governor Murphy signed the Dual-Use Solar Energy Act of 2021 (L. 2021, c. 170, “Dual-Use Act”) 
which directs the Board to adopt rules establishing a Pilot Program for the development of dual-use solar projects 
on productive farmland (also known as “agrivoltaics”).  The Pilot Program is designed to encourage the development 
of dual-use solar facilities and the creation of a new segment of the solar industry in New Jersey that is compatible 
with the State’s rich agricultural heritage.  Specifically, the Pilot Program seeks to demonstrate and study the 
compatibility of active agricultural or horticultural production and solar photovoltaic infrastructure on the same 
land/property.  Board staff (“Staff”) engaged the Rutgers Agrivoltaics Program (“RAP”) at Rutgers University (“RU”) 
for providing crucial input into the design of the Pilot Program; on May 1, 2023, the Board executed a three-year 
grant agreement with RAP to facilitate the development and implementation of a Pilot Program.   

  
Throughout 2023, and in close collaboration with RAP, the New Jersey Department of Agriculture, New Jersey 
Department of Environmental Protection, State Agriculture Development Committee, and other interested 
stakeholders, the Board conducted robust public engagement to gather input on the implementation of this law.   

 On November 9, 2023, a Pilot Program Straw Proposal (“Straw Proposal”) was issued for public comment, 
with a corrected version issued on November 21, 2023.  Written comments were due on December 13, 
2023.  

 On November 14, 2023, Staff, in conjunction with RAP, presented an overview of the Straw Proposal at the 
New Jersey Farm Bureau’s annual conference, with approximately 80 attendees including stakeholders 
primarily from the agricultural community, academia, and federal, state, and local government.  

 On November 29, 2023, Staff led a stakeholder meeting, with approximately 129 attendees representing 
stakeholders from the agricultural community, solar industry, utilities, trade associations, academia, 
nonprofits, consultants, environmental organizations, media groups, state and local government, and 
members of the general public.  The recording and materials presented at the stakeholder meeting are 
available on the Board’s website at https://www.nj.gov/bpu/newsroom/public/.   

 Staff received 16 written comments, representing 22 entities, on the Straw Proposal.  
  

In 2024, the Board will conduct a rulemaking for the Pilot Program and run the first solicitation to select dual-use 
projects.  Prior to issuing a formal rule proposal, and in accordance with the State’s rulemaking procedures 
established at N.J.A.C. 1:30-5.3(a), Staff is informally seeking input from stakeholders on this preliminary rule draft.  
The preliminary rule draft reflects stakeholder comments provided on the Straw Proposal.  Staff’s responses to 
stakeholders’ written comments received are anticipated to be included in a future Board Order. 
 

http://www.nj.gov/bpu
http://www.nj.gov/bpu
http://www.nj.gov/bpu/
https://www.youtube.com/c/NewJerseyBoardofPublicUtilitiesNJBPU
https://twitter.com/njbpu
https://www.facebook.com/njbpu/
https://www.instagram.com/njboardofpublicutilities/
https://www.linkedin.com/company/263580
https://publicaccess.bpu.state.nj.us/CaseSummary.aspx?case_id=2112335
https://www.nj.gov/bpu/pdf/publicnotice/Solar%20-%20PUBLIC%20NOTICE%20-%20Dual%20Use%20Pilot%20Straw%20-%20Notice%20and%20Request%20for%20Public%20Comment%20on%20Program%20Design%20-%20REVISED%20version%20for%20pos.pdf
https://www.nj.gov/bpu/newsroom/public/


    
  
 
 

 

2 
 

Christine Guhl-Sadovy 
President 

 
Dr. Zenon Christodoulou 

Marian Abdou 
Michael Bange 

Commissioners 

State of New Jersey 
Governor Philip D. Murphy 
Lt. Governor Tahesha L. Way 
 
Board of Public Utilities 
 
 
www.nj.gov/bpu/ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Please submit any questions regarding this stakeholder process to laura.scatena@bpu.nj.gov and include the 
subject line “Dual-Use Solar Pilot” as applicable. 
 
COMMENTS 
 
The Board is also accepting written and/or electronic comments.  All public comments should be filed under Docket 
No. QO23090679, In the Matter of the Dual-Use Solar Energy Pilot Program. 
 
The deadline for comments on this matter is 5 p.m. Eastern Time on June 24, 2024.  
 
Please submit comments directly to the specific docket listed above using the “Post Comments” button on the 
Board’s Public Document Search tool.  All comments are considered “public documents” for purposes of the State’s 
Open Public Records Act.  Only public documents should be submitted using the “Post Comments” button on the 
Public Document Search tool. Commenters may identify any information they seek to keep confidential by 
submitting them in accordance with the procedures set forth in N.J.A.C. 14:1-12.3.   
 
In addition to hard copy submissions, confidential information may also be filed electronically via the Board’s e-filing 
system or by email to the Secretary of the Board.  Please include “Confidential Information” in the subject line of 
any e-mail.  Instructions for confidential e-filing are found on the Board’s webpage,  
https://www.nj.gov/bpu/agenda/efiling/.  
 
E-mailed and/or written comments may also be submitted to: 
 

Secretary of the Board 
44 South Clinton Ave., 1st Floor 
PO Box 350 
Trenton, NJ 08625-0350 
Phone: 609-292-1599 
Email: board.secretary@bpu.nj.gov  

 
Staff looks forward to receiving and reviewing your responses.  Thank you for your interest in this matter. 
 
 

                                                                                   Sherri L. Golden 
 __________________________ 

Sherri L. Golden  
Secretary of the Board 

 
Dated: June 10, 2024

http://www.nj.gov/bpu
http://www.nj.gov/bpu
http://www.nj.gov/bpu/
https://www.youtube.com/c/NewJerseyBoardofPublicUtilitiesNJBPU
https://twitter.com/njbpu
https://www.facebook.com/njbpu/
https://www.instagram.com/njboardofpublicutilities/
https://www.linkedin.com/company/263580
mailto:laura.scatena@bpu.nj.gov
https://publicaccess.bpu.state.nj.us/CaseSummary.aspx?case_id=2112335
https://publicaccess.bpu.state.nj.us/
https://publicaccess.bpu.state.nj.us/
https://www.nj.gov/bpu/agenda/efiling/
mailto:board.secretary@bpu.nj.gov


Preliminary Draft Dual-Use Solar Energy Pilot Program Rules: 

New Jersey Administrative Code – New Subchapter 14:8-13 

 

14:8-13.1 Purpose and scope 

14:8-13.2 Definitions 

14:8-13.3 Pilot Program structure 

14:8-13.4 Pilot Program capacity targets and limits 

14:8-13.5 Pilot Program eligibility  

14:8-13.6 Project siting requirements 

14:8-13.7 Pilot Program solicitation process  

14:8-13.8 Conditions for a project awarded an incentive 

14:8-13.9 Installation, construction, and operational requirements 

14:8-13.10 Monitoring and research requirements 

14:8-13.11 Compliance and remediation  

14:8-13.12 Decommissioning procedures  

14:8-13.13 Reporting and recordkeeping  

   



 

2 
 

Full text of the proposal follows (additions indicated in boldface thus; deletions indicated in brackets 

[thus]): 

 

SUBCHAPTER 1. RENEWABLE ENERGY GENERAL PROVISIONS AND DEFINITIONS 

14:8-1.2 Definitions 

The following words and terms, when used in this chapter, shall have the following meanings unless the context 

clearly indicates otherwise. Additional definitions that apply to this chapter can be found at N.J.A.C. 14:3-1.1, 

14:4-1.2, and 14:8-2.2. 

 “Adder” means an additional incentive on top of a base incentive provided as an SREC-II within 

the Successor Solar Incentive (SuSI) Program at N.J.A.C. at 14:8-11.  

. . . 

“Dual-Use Solar Energy Project” means the energy generation facilities, structures, and equipment 

for the production of electric power from solar photovoltaic panels located on unpreserved farmland in 

agricultural or horticultural production that ensures the continued simultaneous use of the land below and 

adjacent to the panels for agricultural or horticultural use. N.J.S.A. 48:3-87.13(h). 

“Dual-Use Solar Energy Pilot Program” or “Pilot Program” refers to the program established at 

N.J.A.C. 14:8-13. 

. . .  

 

SUBCHAPTER 11. SUCCESSOR SOLAR INCENTIVE PROGRAM 

14:8-11.4 Successor Solar Incentive Program Eligibility 

(a)-(k) (No change.) 

(l) Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects approved by the Board for ADI Program incentives as described at 

N.J.A.C. 14:8-13 shall be eligible for an ADI Program incentive in the relevant market segment if not 



 

3 
 

directed to participate in the CSI Program. A Dual-Use Solar Energy Project may be awarded a Pilot 

Program incentive Adder. 

(m) Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects approved by the Board for CSI Program incentives may be awarded a 

Pilot Program incentive Adder. 

 

SUBCHAPTER 13. DUAL-USE SOLAR ENERGY PILOT PROGRAM RULES  

14:8-13.1 Purpose and scope 

This subchapter sets forth the rules for the establishment of a Dual-Use Solar Energy Pilot Program, in 

accordance with N.J.S.A. 48:3-87.13. 

 

14:8-13.2 Definitions 

“Application period” means the time during which applications will be received for review in 

advance of a project’s participation as a Selected Project in the Dual-Use Solar Energy Pilot Program. The 

period will commence upon an opening date and close on a subsequent date and time, each specified by 

Board staff in a Notice of Funding Availability. 

“Agricultural practices” means practices used to produce field crops, fruits and vegetables, 

specialty crops, forage crops, and aquaculture, as well as animal production.  

 “Beneficial owner” means, with respect to a Dual-Use Solar Energy Project, the rightful recipient 

of the benefits from said project, even if legal title to the project is held by someone else. The beneficial 

owner may be different from the legal title holder of the project, but must own or control at least part of 

the project. 

“Board” has the same meaning as set forth in N.J.A.C. 14:3-1.1. 



 

4 
 

“Capacity” or “nameplate capacity” means the maximum rated output in megawatts, measured in 

direct current (DC), of all individual photovoltaic panels physically interconnected to make up a solar 

array. 

“Construction, Operations, Monitoring, and Project Research Plan” or “COMPR” means the 

document or sets of documents filed with the Board Secretary’s Office describing key elements of a 

Selected Project. 

“Dual-Use Solar Energy Pilot Program award” means the Board-approved conveyance to a dual-

use solar developer of eligibility rights with respect to a specific incentive or incentives for a Dual-Use Solar 

Energy Project with the terms and conditions of those eligibility rights and incentives designated in a 

Board order. 

 “Equity” means, as adapted from federal Executive Order 13985 of Jan. 20, 2021  (On Advancing 

Racial Equity and Support for Underserved Communities Through the Federal Government), the 

consistent and systematic fair, just, and impartial treatment of all individuals, including individuals who 

belong to underserved communities that have historically experienced inequitable treatment, such as 

Black, Latino, and Indigenous and Native American persons; Asian Americans, Pacific Islanders, and 

other persons of color; members of religious minorities; lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and queer 

(LGBTQ+) persons; persons with disabilities; persons who live in rural areas; and persons otherwise 

adversely affected by persistent poverty or adversely impacted by the building or location of their 

residence.  

“Expression of interest” or “EOI” means a written response prepared by a potential applicant in 

the Pilot Program as part of a pre-qualification process indicating the intent to apply for the Pilot 

Program. 

“Farmer” means, consistent with N.J.A.C. 2:76-10.5(c), an owner or operator of a farming 

operation who, during the calendar year immediately preceding submission of a Dual-Use Solar Energy 



 

5 
 

Pilot Program application or an expression of interest, realized gross sales of at least $2,500 of agricultural 

or horticultural products produced from the farming operation exclusive of any income received for rental 

of lands. 

“Force majeure” means an act of God or any other occurrence beyond the control of an applicant, 

such as crop loss due to drought or severe weather. 

“Horticultural practices” means practices used to produce horticultural crops, including but not 

limited to potted plants, vegetable transplants, cut flowers, nursery plants, trees, shrubs, vine crops, and 

sod.  

 “Landowner” means the record owner of the land, duly authorized purchaser of the land under a 

contract for land purchase, or record owner of the development easement acquired pursuant to N.J.S.A. 

4:1C-34. 

“NJDA” means the New Jersey Department of Agriculture. 

“NJDEP” means the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection. 

“New Jersey public research institution of higher education” means any public research university, 

college, or community college located in New Jersey. 

“Non-permanent agricultural structure” means a movable structure including high tunnels (a 

greenhouse-like structure used to protect crops and extend the growing season), center-pivot irrigation 

systems, post-driven fences, trellises, or structures without permanent anchoring systems or foundations 

such as animal shelters and some greenhouses. 

“Notice of Funding Availability” or “NOFA” means a notice issued to the public for the purposes of 

communicating an opportunity for interested parties to submit an expression of interest for a Dual-Use 

Solar Energy Project for pre-qualification into the Dual-Use Solar Energy Pilot Program. 



 

6 
 

“Overburdened community” means the same as such term is defined in NJDEP’s Environmental 

Justice Rule at N.J.A.C. 7:1C-1.5.  

“Permanent agricultural structure” means a structure that has been built with a permanent 

anchoring system or foundation (typically involving cement or concrete). Examples include farmhouses or 

residential structures, farm retail stores, barns, packhouses, agricultural equipment and materials storage 

sheds, greenhouses, grain storage facilities, plant and animal processing facilities, cold storage facilities, 

and feedlots. 

“Preserved farmland” means the same as such term is defined in section 4 of P.L.2009, c.213 

(N.J.S.A. 54:4-23.3c).  

“Program Year” or “PY” means a 12-month period within the Pilot Program with an associated 

annual capacity target.  

“Project site” means the location of the parcel proposed to contain the Dual-Use Solar Energy 

Project, including the solar array, balance of system equipment, and the associated research control area 

together.   

“Research control area” means a designated portion of the project site which does not contain the 

solar array or balance of system equipment but is equivalent to the array-containing portion with regard to 

agricultural productivity potential, farming practices, farm management, and any extraneous factors 

affecting agricultural productivity.   

“SADC” means the State Agriculture Development Committee established pursuant to section 4 of 

the “Right to Farm Act,” P.L.1983, c. 31 (N.J.S.A. 4:1C-4). 

“Selected Project” means a Dual-Use Solar Energy Project selected by the Board to participate in 

the Dual-Use Solar Energy Pilot Program.  



 

7 
 

“Selected Project team” means the entities or representatives thereof that are responsible for a 

Selected Project, including, but not limited to, the farmer(s), landowner(s), and solar operator(s). 

“Solar operator” means the person or entity that installs, owns, or controls the dual-use solar 

energy generation facilities, structures, and equipment. 

“Solicitation round” means the entirety of the solicitation process commencing with a Board order 

announcing an annual capacity target and concluding within one year, unless otherwise specified within the 

Board order.  A solicitation round may include more than one application period, each with an associated 

application capacity target. 

 “Underserved communities” means populations sharing a particular characteristic, as well as 

geographic communities, that are unlikely to have received consistent and systemic fair, just, and impartial 

treatment that impacted their opportunity to participate equitably in and benefit from various aspects of 

economic, social, and civic life, as exemplified by the list in the preceding definition of “equity.”  

“Unpreserved farmland” means any land that is valued, assessed, and taxed pursuant to the New 

Jersey Farmland Assessment Act of 1964, P.L. 1964, c. 48 (N.J.S.A. 54:4-23.1 et seq.) and is not preserved 

farmland. 

 

14:8-13.3 Pilot Program structure 

(a) The Pilot Program shall run for at least 36 months, divided into Program Year 1 (PY1), Program Year 

2 (PY2), and Program Year 3 (PY3). PY1 shall begin on {the date of adoption of this rule}, and last for 12 

months thereafter. Subsequent Program Years shall begin on the one-year anniversary of the rule 

adoption, at the completion of the previous Program Year. 

(b) The Board may extend the Pilot Program by no more than two additional 12-month periods (PY4 and 

PY5) if the Board, in consultation with the Secretary of Agriculture, determines that such extensions are 



 

8 
 

necessary to adequately evaluate the performance of the projects selected for construction as part of the 

Pilot Program.  

(c) No later than 36 months after the adoption of program rules, at the conclusion of PY3, or no later than 

48 or 60 months if the Board extends the Pilot Program by one year (PY4) or two years (PY5), respectively, 

the Board, in consultation with the Secretary of Agriculture, shall adopt rules to convert the Pilot Program 

to a permanent Dual-Use Solar Energy Program. 

(d) For each Program Year, the Board shall initiate an annual solicitation process pursuant to the Dual-Use 

Solar Energy Act, as described at N.J.A.C. 14:8-13.7.   

(e) The Board will commence a solicitation round during a particular Program Year beginning with the 

issuance of a Board order establishing an initial annual capacity target for that Program Year. Each 

solicitation round shall have at least one application period. An application period shall be preceded by 

Board staff’s issuance of a Notice of Funding Availability (NOFA). The NOFA will include instructions and 

requirements for each project team to submit an Expression of Interest (EOI) in participating in the 

related application period. The NOFA shall provide criteria for project pre-qualification. Submission of an 

EOI to Board staff does not bind or commit a project to participate in such application period. However, 

failure to submit an EOI precludes a project team from participating in the application period for which 

the EOI was required. 

(f) Following receipt of an EOI, Board staff will review the EOI and provide feedback on the proposed 

project to the applicant. Board staff will determine based on the EOI whether a project is pre-qualified for 

the next application period. Projects to which Board staff provides pre-qualification approval status will be 

encouraged to submit an application during the related application period. Projects that Board staff 

determines are not pre-qualified because they do not meet established participation criteria will not be 

permitted to submit an application for that application period. 



 

9 
 

(g) Based upon the responses to the EOI for a particular application period, the Board will establish a 

capacity target for each application period. The relevant application period shall commence when the 

Board issues an announcement of the application period’s capacity target and approves for public 

distribution a standard form of application to participate in the Pilot Program during that application 

period.   

(h) The application approved for use within an application period shall contain instructions for how 

applicants should demonstrate the qualities and characteristics of their proposed project. The application 

instructions will also detail how applications will be evaluated and how any additional eligibility criteria, 

such as minimum solar capacity or maturity requirements. 

(i) Board staff shall review for administrative completeness the applications received for a particular 

application period pursuant to N.J.A.C. 14:8-13.7(i).  

(j) The Board shall issue an order or orders approving or disapproving projects, including any conditions 

relating to a project approval, based on the content of each project’s submitted application. 

(k) Selected Projects shall be subject to the terms and conditions for participating in the Pilot Program as 

described in this chapter, as well as to any additional terms or conditions specified by the Board in an 

order conditionally approving a Selected Project. Selected Projects shall be eligible for a Dual-Use Solar 

Energy Pilot Program Adder that shall supplement an SREC-II incentive provided through the ADI 

Program or CSI Program incentive, if they meet all the requirements in this chapter and the Board order. 

(l) Selected Projects shall be subject to monitoring and operational requirements in this chapter as well as 

any requirements in an order conditionally approving a Selected Project. Failure to comply with the terms 

and conditions expressed herein or contained in such an order puts the project at risk for timely receipt of 

the solar incentive and potential revocation of the dual-use Adder as described at N.J.A.C. 14:8-13.11. 

(m) The aggregated results from all application periods within the rounds, the compliance of the Selected 

Projects with the Pilot Program’s terms and conditions, and the research results from the Selected Projects 



 

10 
 

will inform the Board’s development of a permanent dual-use solar energy program that is a component of 

the SuSI Program. 

 

14:8-13.4 Pilot Program capacity targets and limits 

(a) The Board shall establish annual capacity targets for Selected Projects in a Board order commencing a 

solicitation round. Board staff shall include a capacity target for each application period within the 

application materials for a particular application period issued for public use as described at N.J.A.C. 14:8-

13.7. The capacity target shall be determined based upon the amount of capacity of projects received in 

response to a NOFA that are qualified to proceed to submit an application into the Pilot Program.  

(b) The annual capacity target for Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects approved for participation in the Pilot 

Program during PY3 shall be set to enable the Pilot Program to accommodate as much capacity as possible 

without exceeding the 200-megawatt (MW) Pilot Program limit. If the Board extends the Pilot Program 

under N.J.A.C. 14:8-13.3(b), it may increase the total capacity limit of all projects under the program by no 

more than 50 MW, as measured in DC, per each of the two possible additional 12-month periods, for a total 

Pilot Program capacity after five years of 300 MW. 

(c) The Board shall consider the amount of unallocated capacity at the end of a Program Year and any 

capacity allocated to a Selected Project that has withdrawn from the Pilot Program in establishing the 

annual capacity targets for subsequent Program Years. 

(d) The annual capacity targets may be apportioned to achieve Pilot Program goals such as diversity in 

agricultural/horticultural activity or geographic location using recent data such as crop type and animal 

production classifications in New Jersey, as defined by the National Agricultural Statistics Service, within 

the United States Department of Agriculture.  



 

11 
 

(e) The Board may establish capacity set-asides within the annual capacity target for particular types of 

projects pursuant to the criteria established under N.J.A.C. 14:8-13.7(e) with the intent of studying a 

diverse pool of Selected Projects in the Pilot Program. A description of the project characteristics which 

may qualify a project for the set-aside shall be contained within the NOFA described at N.J.A.C. 14:8-

13.7(a). The Board shall establish any set-aside of capacity within an annual capacity target in the Board 

order announcing a Pilot Program solicitation round. 

 

14:8-13.5 Pilot Program eligibility 

(a) The Board shall select projects for participation in the Pilot Program in a competitive solicitation 

process as outlined at N.J.A.C. 14:8-13.7. The selection criteria for applications shall be established by the 

Board prior to the opening of an application period within the solicitation round.  

(b) The capacity limit for an individual Dual-Use Solar Energy Project in the Pilot Program is set at a 

maximum of 10 MW per project, measured as the sum of the nameplate capacity in DC rating of all PV 

panels comprising the Dual-Use Solar Energy Project. An application submitted in the Pilot Program must 

contain only one individual Dual-Use Solar Energy pilot project. 

(c) The Board may establish, by order prior to the opening of an application period, a minimum capacity 

limit for individual Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects in the Pilot Program, measured as the sum of the 

nameplate capacity in DC rating of all PV panels comprising the Dual-Use Solar Energy Project. 

(d) Applications, as such term is used in N.J.A.C. 14:8-13.7(e), will only be accepted for Dual-Use Solar 

Energy Projects for which an EOI was submitted to Board staff and for which Board staff has issued a pre-

qualification approval notice. Project teams that receive pre-qualification approval for a particular 

application period will be encouraged to submit the application for that application period to participate in 

the Pilot Program.    



 

12 
 

(e) The Board shall provide conditional approval to projects selected in the application process described at 

N.J.A.C. 14:8-13.7 via a Board order.  

(f) A Dual-Use Solar Energy Project must be registered and approved for both the Dual-Use Pilot Program 

and the CSI or ADI Program, as applicable, before beginning construction. Successful registration in the 

ADI Program at N.J.A.C. 14:8-11.4(a) through (f) or the CSI Program at N.J.A.C. 14:8-11.4(g) through (k) 

is required for a Selected Project.  

(g) Existing solar projects that have registered, commenced construction, and been certified as eligible to 

receive incentives pursuant to New Jersey’s solar programs may not apply to requalify as a Dual-Use Solar 

Energy Project under the Pilot Program. 

(h) A Selected Project that satisfies all conditions including the ADI Program or CSI Program registration 

requirements and obtains a New Jersey Certification Number shall be considered approved for purposes of 

calculating the 200 MW Pilot Program limit for the first three Pilot Program years.  

(i) Applications will not be accepted for proposals in which an electric distribution company would develop, 

own, or operate a Dual-Use Solar Energy Project. 

 

14:8-13.6 Project siting requirements 

(a) Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects shall be located only on unpreserved farmland.  

(b) Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects are prohibited from locating on the following land types (collectively 

“prohibited land uses”), unless a waiver is granted by the Board, in consultation with the NJDEP and 

Secretary of Agriculture pursuant to the process outlined in subsection (h) below: 

1. Land preserved pursuant to the Green Acres Program, as defined at N.J.A.C. 7:36; 



 

13 
 

2. Land located within the preservation area of the Pinelands area, as designated in subsection b. of 

section 10 of P.L.1979, c.111 (N.J.S.A. 13:18A-11); 

3. Land designated as forest area in the Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan adopted 

pursuant to P.L.1979, c.111 (N.J.S.A. 13:18A-1 et seq.); 

4. Land designated as freshwater wetlands, as defined pursuant to P.L.1987, c.156 (N.J.S.A. 13:9B-1 

et seq.), or coastal wetlands, as defined pursuant to P.L.1970, c.272 (N.J.S.A.  13:9A-1 et seq.);  

5. Land located within the Highlands preservation area as designated in subsection b. of section 7 of 

P.L.2004, c.120 (N.J.S.A. 13:20-7); or  

6. Forested land and associated transition zones, as defined pursuant to N.J.A.C. 14:8-12.2. 

(c) A Dual-Use Solar Energy Project applying for an incentive Adder under the CSI Program shall not be 

subject to the siting limitations for covered agricultural lands as described in N.J.A.C. 14:8-12.4(a) through 

(g), but shall be subject to the siting restrictions in subsection (d) below. 

(d) Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects are prohibited from locating on prime agricultural soils and soils of 

Statewide importance, as identified by the United States Department of Agriculture's Natural Resources 

Conservation Service, which are located in Agricultural Development Areas (ADAs) certified by the SADC, 

unless the project is in association with a research study undertaken pursuant to the requirements at 

N.J.A.C. 14:8-13.10 in coordination with a New Jersey public research institution of higher education, as 

approved by the Board in consultation with the Secretary of Agriculture. 

(e) The land on which the Dual-Use Solar Energy Project is installed shall have had at least the previous 

three years in continuous agricultural or horticultural usage, as demonstrated by participation in the 

State’s farmland assessment program pursuant to the New Jersey Farmland Assessment Act of 1964, 

P.L.1964, c.48 (N.J.S.A. 54:4-23.1 et seq.). Pursuant to this subchapter, the landowner shall prepare and 

provide to the Board, as part of the EOI in applying to the Pilot Program as described at N.J.A.C. 14:8-



 

14 
 

13.7(a), a signed affidavit attesting to the historical agricultural or horticultural use of the land prior to the 

installation of a Dual-Use Solar Energy Project. 

(f) Nothing in this subchapter shall be construed to permit siting of Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects on 

preserved farmland, unless affirmatively allowed pursuant to N.J.S.A. 4:1C-32.4 et seq.  

(g) Co-location of solar facilities shall be subject to specific review and permission by the Board through 

the application process and the SuSI Program rules at N.J.A.C. 14:8-11. 

(h) Any entity seeking to locate a Dual-Use Solar Energy Project on prohibited land uses as described in 

N.J.A.C. 14:8-13.6(b) may file a petition with the Board in accordance with the requirements of N.J.A.C. 

14:1-1.2(b) seeking to waive the prohibition for the entity’s special case and for good cause shown. The 

Board, or its designee, shall make a positive finding with regard to any such petition only upon: 

1. Consulting with other State agencies, as appropriate; 

2. Determining that the petitioner has documented sufficient facts and circumstances establishing 

the public's specific interest in siting the proposed Dual-Use Solar Energy Project on or within a 

specific prohibited land use; and 

3. Finding that the waiver is in the public interest. 

(i) The Board, or its designee, may request additional documentation or evidence from a Dual-Use Solar 

Energy Project prior to approving or denying a request for any waiver pursuant to this section. 

 

14:8-13.7 Pilot Program solicitation process 

(a) Each solicitation round will commence with a Board order, which shall include a proposed annual 

capacity target for the solicitation round and a directive to Board staff to issue a NOFA for one or more 

application periods. A NOFA issued by Board staff will contain any requirements or minimum criteria 

anticipated for applicants for that application period. The NOFA will also contain instructions for potential 



 

15 
 

applicants to submit EOIs and pre-qualify their proposed Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects for the 

upcoming application period. All forms and instructions regarding the Pilot Program solicitation process 

shall be found on the Board's website at www.nj.gov/bpu.  

1. Instructions for an applicant’s completion and submission of an EOI shall include a due date and 

the method of submission. 

2. An EOI will be required of each applicant as a prerequisite for submittal of a Dual-Use Pilot 

Program application.   

3. The EOI shall identify the proposed project team.  It must also include signed certifications from 

the landowner, the solar operator, and the farmer, as applicable, attesting to their familiarity with the 

requirements for participation in the Pilot Program as described in these rules, as well as to the accuracy of 

the submitted documents. The EOI must also include a written lease agreement between the landowner, the 

solar operator, and the farmer, as applicable. The lease agreement must be effective for a minimum of 

three years. Any changes to the lease agreement must be submitted as a modification to the Construction, 

Operations, Monitoring, and Project Research Plan (“COMPR”), as described at N.J.A.C. 14:8-13.7(k), 

within 90 days of said changes becoming effective.  

4. The EOI shall identify the basic characteristics of the proposed Dual-Use Solar Energy Project, 

including, but not limited to, the following: 

i.  municipal tax map with the block and lot location of the farm parcel clearly identified 

that shows the delineation of the proposed project site and any fencing;  

ii. Solar capacity;  

iii. Array type including a description of any innovative design or technology proposed;  

iv. Calculation of the land area covered by the array and control area;  



 

16 
 

  v. A description of the agricultural or horticultural use of the proposed project site over the 

previous three years;  

vi. A description of the agricultural or horticultural activities proposed on the areas under 

and adjacent to the array;  

vii. The most recent 12 months of historic electricity consumption according to a utility bill 

showing the site host’s name, address, and electric tariff, if applicable, if the project is proposed to be net 

metered;  

viii. Anticipated means of electricity sale;  

ix. Current state of project maturity including any design, contracting, legal, permitting or 

zoning review work performed and status of interconnection to a distribution or transmission system 

operated by a New Jersey electric public utility or local government unit; 

x. anticipated construction schedule, including anticipated cost milestones and development 

milestones, if available; 

xi. Estimated total installed cost including solar equipment, research required pursuant to 

the Pilot Program rules, monitoring and data collection equipment, labor, and soft costs; 

xii. Estimated incremental costs, as a subset of total installed costs, to be incurred as a result 

of participation in the Pilot Program specific to the agricultural or horticultural aspects of the Dual-Use 

Solar Energy Project; 

xiii. Estimated Dual-Use Incentive Adder required to cover incremental costs; and 

xiv. Contact information for one representative appointed by the project team to serve as 

point of contact for Board staff and to be responsible for submitting documents required throughout the 

solicitation process.   



 

17 
 

(b) Board staff shall provide initial feedback to potential applicants about the quality of their Dual-Use 

Solar Energy Project proposals, including any modifications required to obtain pre-qualification, no less 

than 30 days prior to the opening of the applicable application round. An approval from the relevant EDC 

or regional transmission organization to construct or interconnect the proposed project is not required 

prior to submission of an EOI or as a condition of project pre-qualification. 

(c) Board staff shall compile the results of the EOI, including number of proposed Dual-Use Solar Energy 

Projects submitted, cumulative capacity, array types, and agricultural and horticultural activities 

proposed. 

(d) Board staff shall report the compiled results of the EOI to the Board along with a recommendation for 

establishing a capacity target for the application period, any capacity set asides, any application fees, and 

any minimum criteria in addition to those contained in this subchapter for participation in the related 

solicitation round.   

(e) Based on the results of the EOI and Board staff’s recommendations, for each application period, the 

Board shall establish a standard form of application for participation in the Pilot Program, the detailed 

minimum criteria for evaluating and scoring applications, and application fees, if needed. Any application 

fees collected shall be submitted to New Jersey’s Clean Energy Program to offset ratepayer costs used to 

administer the Pilot Program.  

(f) The application must include the information listed in subsection (a) above that is required to be 

submitted with the EOI and must also include the following: 

1. An updated municipal tax map, showing block and lot location of the farm parcel clearly 

identified that shows the delineation of the proposed site, its associated research control areas, its proposed 

location of the balance of system equipment and solar array, and any fencing, if changes have been made to 

the submission under the EOI; and 

2. Documentation demonstrating how the applicant proposes to meet the minimum criteria. 



 

18 
 

(g) To enable the Board to assemble a diverse pool of Selected Projects representing varying sizes and 

involving diverse types of agricultural and horticultural production, minimum criteria that will be 

considered by the Board in evaluating and scoring an application include, but are not limited to: 

1. Proposals for monitoring the quality of agricultural or horticultural use of the land including the 

identity and role of any third-party consultant or New Jersey public research institution of higher 

education that has not been contracted with the Board for purposes of providing Pilot Program research 

activities; 

2. The incentive level the applicant seeks, including the ADI Program or CSI Program incentive 

amount, if known, and, if required, an Adder designed to supplement the value of an ADI Program or CSI 

Program incentive; 

3. Geographic location, including whether part of an overburdened community or in an 

underserved community; 

4. Interconnection planning status including, but not limited to, demonstrated proof of submission 

of an interconnection application; 

5. Proposals for minimizing and mitigating negative impacts to farmland during construction, 

operation, and decommissioning; 

6. Proposals to address decommissioning of the Dual-Use Solar Energy Project equipment, 

including both procedures and funding consistent with provisions pursuant to N.J.A.C. 14:8-13.12; 

7. Proposals for addressing stormwater runoff and other environmental issues; 

8. Technical feasibility; 

9. Technical innovation; 



 

19 
 

10. The quality of the proposed design of the research plan pursuant to N.J.A.C. 14:8-13.10 that 

includes providing crop performance data and other data related to the productivity and viability of dual-

use solar and demonstrates the project team’s willingness to participate in the research studies required of 

all approved projects; and 

11. A three-year plan for the farming operation intended to occur below and adjacent to the solar 

array including any special operational requirements specific to the solar array. The three-year plan shall 

include, but is not limited to, crop types, cover cropping, standard agricultural practices, and other 

cultural practices over this period that are deemed necessary. 

(h) The application evaluation criteria in each solicitation round will be defined to seek diversity and 

innovation in agricultural and horticultural use, as well as project size. The evaluation criteria used to 

score applications, any application fees required, and any minimum criteria for participation in the 

solicitation round will be contained in the standard form of application, which will describe the 

information to be submitted to Board staff for evaluation.    

(i) Following the close of an application period, Board staff, in consultation with the Secretary of 

Agriculture or the Secretary’s designee, will review applications for administrative completeness. If an 

application is deficient, Board staff will advise the applicant which items must be remedied to correct the 

deficiencies. Applications with deficiencies will be granted an opportunity to cure within 10 business days 

of receipt of the notice of deficiencies. Board staff may reject as administratively incomplete applications 

that are substantively incomplete at the close of the cure period, that are not in compliance with this 

subchapter, or that do not meet requirements for selection, as set forth in the application approved by the 

Board pursuant to N.J.A.C. 14:8-13.7(e) and the selection process outlined pursuant to this subchapter. 

Board staff may request that an applicant provide additional or modified information to complete its 

application. 



 

20 
 

(j) The Board shall consult with the Secretary of Agriculture in the review and approval of all Dual-Use 

Solar Energy Projects under the Pilot Program. Board staff, in consultation with the Secretary of 

Agriculture, shall score applications deemed complete pursuant to subsection (i) above based on robustness 

of responses to the criteria for evaluation established in the application form. Board staff will present to the 

Board the results of its evaluation of the applications, the advice of the Secretary of Agriculture, and a 

recommendation for approval or denial for each application as well as any conditions for approval. The 

Board shall within 180 days after receipt, approve, disapprove, or approve with conditions an application 

submitted pursuant to this subchapter. The 180-day period for the Board to approve, conditionally 

approve, or deny the application will commence on the date the complete application was filed. 

1. The Board may opt to select Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects until the program capacity target 

for that Program Year is filled.  The Board is not obligated to select projects if an application period or 

solicitation round is undersubscribed. The Board may select projects with total capacity that exceeds the 

annual or per application period capacity target if a solicitation round or application period is 

oversubscribed. 

2. The Board shall memorialize the results of an application period in a Board order which includes 

summary information describing the responses to the application for that application period, projects 

selected for an award, and authorization to Board staff to issue award letters to selected applicants. The 

project award letters shall specify any terms and conditions governing project eligibility for Adders. 

(k) Key elements of the application materials submitted for Selected Projects shall form the basis of a 

COMPR. A COMPR shall establish a record for an applicant’s project’s planned design, construction, 

operation, maintenance, monitoring, and terms and conditions for maintaining eligibility for the Pilot 

Program incentive Adder. The Board order conditionally approving the project application and any terms 

or conditions imposed as part of the approval will become part of the COMPR as described further in 

N.J.A.C. 14:8-13.13. 



 

21 
 

(l) All solicitation rounds and associated application periods shall otherwise follow the processes and 

procedures identified in this subchapter. 

(m) In the application evaluation and selection process, Board staff may recommend to the Board that it is 

appropriate to limit the number of projects approved for a single applicant in a Program Year in order to 

promote a diverse pool of applicants.  

  

14:8-13.8 Conditions for a project awarded an incentive 

(a) Each project shall be equipped with a utility revenue grade meter dedicated to the measurement of the 

electricity produced for the purpose of SREC-II creation. For net metering customer-generators, this 

production meter is additional to the meter owned and used by the EDC for billing purposes.  

(b) An appointed representative of a Selected Project team must provide, on an annual basis on the 

anniversary of commencing commercial operations, evidence as described in this subsection that the land 

on which the Dual-Use Solar Energy Project is installed continues to be actively devoted to agricultural or 

horticultural use. Pilot participants must demonstrate that the farm parcel on which the project is located 

is continuously participating in the State’s farmland assessment program pursuant to N.J.S.A. 54:4-23.1 et 

seq. through submission of the following:  

1. Documentation in the form of the farm’s application for farmland assessment pursuant to 

N.J.A.C. 18:15, referred to as Form FA-1, that the farm parcel containing the Selected Project’s block and 

lot qualified for New Jersey Farmland Assessment for the previous year.   

2. For each year throughout the lifetime of the Dual-Use Solar Energy Pilot Program award, the 

farm’s current year Form FA-1 shall be submitted to the Board’s Secretary’s Office as an amendment to 

the COMPR.  

(c) Any Dual-Use Solar Energy Project approved to participate in the Pilot Program that does not maintain 

active agricultural or horticultural use of the land risks forfeiture of future solar incentive payments.   



 

22 
 

(d) Within 90 days of receipt of notice of selection for a Dual-Use Solar Energy Pilot Program award, a 

report prepared by a qualified soil scientist or geotechnical engineer is required to be added to the COMPR 

on the pre-construction soil quality characteristics across the project site, solar array, and research control 

area, on a 100-foot by 100-foot grid that enables the determination of erosion potential using the Revised 

Universal Soil Loss Equation including: 

1. Soil map unit; 

2. Soil textural classification; 

3. Hydrologic soil group; 

4. Organic matter content; 

5. Salinity;  

6. Macro nutrient content (phosphorous, potassium); 

7. Bulk density; 

8. Overall slope; and 

9. Topography of the project site. 

 

14:8-13.9 Installation, construction, and operational requirements 

(a) Selected Project teams and their Selected Projects shall comply with all applicable federal, State, or 

local laws, rules, regulations, or ordinances. 

 1. Notwithstanding any law, ordinance, rule, or regulation to the contrary, a Selected Project 

approved pursuant to this subchapter shall be a permitted use within every municipality in New Jersey. 

2. Selected Project teams seeking protection for their projects under New Jersey’s Right to Farm 

Act, N.J.S.A. 4:1C-1 et seq., must comply with the relevant provisions of the agricultural management 

practices at N.J.A.C. 2:76-2A.12 through 2A.13 and not pose a direct threat to public health and safety. 



 

23 
 

3. All Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects shall comply with the NJDEP’s Stormwater Management 

Rules, N.J.A.C. 7:8. 

(b) Selected Projects shall conform to all codes, standards, and licensing requirements that were applicable 

at the time the project was constructed. 

 1. If fencing is required pursuant to any code, ordinance, permit requirement or statute, the 

Selected Project team shall install fencing at least eight feet tall around the entire project site including the 

dual-use array and control areas. Alternatively, separate and distinct fences may be installed around the 

dual-use solar array and around the research control area as long as the fencing for each is of similar 

length, height, and configuration. 

(c) Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects must be connected to the distribution or transmission system owned or 

operated by a New Jersey public utility or local government unit. 

(d) Dual-use system designs which incorporate permanent agricultural structures are not eligible to 

participate in the Pilot Program. This prohibition includes designs with non-permanent agricultural 

structures that are directly attached to permanent structures. 

(e) Participants shall also incorporate the following additional design standards when developing a project 

for the Pilot Program:  

1. Arrays must be designed taking into account the requirements for the specific farming practices 

and the energy collection impacts of particular design features, to minimize negative impacts to the 

farming operations and the land.   

2. Array designs must be compatible with long-term, continued use and enable sites to support 

diverse future agricultural and/or horticultural activities. 

3. Key parameters for designing a solar array under the Pilot Program must include, but need not 

be limited to, farm yields, electricity production capacity, location of modules and system equipment, 



 

24 
 

dimensions, array height, row spacing, tilt or track angle limits, orientation, mounting configuration, and 

row alignment. Selection of row alignment must consider impacts from, including but not limited to, land 

boundaries, erosion prevention, elevation contours, water features, roads, and buildings.   

4. Designs must demonstrate consideration of the geometry of the subject parcel and solar array 

such that the array’s location, orientation and configuration minimizes and accounts for edge effects 

pertaining to the relationships between the solar array, plant growth, and farm equipment accessibility. 

The project design must facilitate the ability to operate farm equipment around the edges of modules and 

array racking such that farm activities are minimally disrupted. 

5. The project site of a Selected Project must include a research control area, or area of farmland 

without solar panels but otherwise equal in potential agricultural productivity and all extraneous factors 

affecting agricultural productivity characteristics compared to the area under and adjacent to the solar 

array. The research control area will be used to compare the performance of the crop or animals raised 

with the same crop or animals below and adjacent to the solar array. 

i. The land within the research control area must be farmed by the same farmer using the 

same cultural practices as those employed in the area under and adjacent to the solar array.  

ii. For solar array projects less than or equal to 3.0 acres, the research control area must be 

equal in size to the entire area of land containing the solar array, including the area between panels and 

rows. For solar array projects greater than 3.0 acres, the required control area size is no less than 3.0 acres.   

6. The use of concrete in structural footings is prohibited, unless written justification is supplied by 

a licensed professional engineer. The use of concrete shall be acceptable for the purposes of installing a 

shallow concrete pad for placement of balance of system equipment such as inverters or transformers. 

7. Array designs shall plan for minimizing the impacts on soils and anticipate the need for rotating 

crops annually and interannually. 

8. If applicable, the design shall account for ensuring the safety of animals. For farms that 

incorporate agritourism, an element of the design shall also account for protecting the public and ensuring 

public safety around the solar array and its associated infrastructure.  



 

25 
 

 9. Designs shall also incorporate any additional metric(s) deemed necessary to inform a permanent 

program, as established by the Board order preceding each application period.   

(f) Farming activities occurring below and adjacent to the solar array and within the designated research 

control areas shall follow the current three-year plan contained within the COMPR on file with the Board 

Secretary’s office. 

   1. The three-year plan incorporated into the COMPR must include, but is not limited to, crop 

types, cover cropping, standard agricultural practices, and other cultural practices over this period that 

are deemed necessary.   

2. Changes to agricultural and horticultural practices anticipated to occur within the next three 

years must be submitted as a request to modify the COMPR to Board staff, and/or its designee, for review 

and approval. Board staff will respond to a request to change a three-year plan within 10 business days and 

provide a final determination within 30 calendar days. If the Selected Project team disagrees with Board’s 

staff’s determination, Selected Project teams may petition the Board for relief.  

(g) Selected Projects must become fully operational, including having monitoring equipment installed for 

the Selected Project, within the timeframes required under the applicable SuSI Program pursuant to 

N.J.A.C. 14:8-11 for the ADI Program or the CSI Program as applicable. Projects that are awarded a dual-

use incentive and are registered in the SuSI Program shall be eligible for the extension opportunities 

afforded to projects in their respective ADI Program or CSI Program. 

 

14:8-13.10 Monitoring and research requirements 

(a) The COMPR shall establish the minimum monitoring and research requirements for a Selected Project 

throughout the life of the project. A New Jersey public research institution of higher education may serve 

as the primary designer and organizer of research studies involving projects selected as part of the Pilot 

Program. The minimum requirements for a Selected Project must be included in the COMPR and include 

metrics that monitor and track: 



 

26 
 

1. The quality of agricultural and horticultural use of the land including but not limited to separate 

reporting of yields within the solar array-covered and the research control area; 

2. The amount of electricity generated;  

3. Impacts on the land;  

4. Stormwater runoff and other environmental issues; and 

5. Any additional parameters deemed necessary for researching and evaluating the Pilot Program 

as established by the Board order preceding each application period. 

(b) Data collection for Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects not located in ADAs must include the following 

information pertaining to the project site: 

1. Name, phone number and email address for each member or entity of the Selected Project team; 

2. Postal address of the proposed land parcel on which the Dual-Use Solar Energy Project will be 

located, if applicable; 

3. GPS coordinates;  

4. Soil type and topography; 

5. For net-metered projects, two-year record of electricity consumption, in the form of utility bills, 

prior to solar array installation; 

6. Type of agricultural or horticultural activity; 

7. Solar array size, including ground area, type, panel specifications, number of panels, and 

nominal production; 

8. Size of area within the solar array area rendered unfarmable by the solar array structure and 

the location and size of area of any required infrastructure, meaning the balance of system equipment; 

9. Installation date that specifies the first day of operation of the solar array; 

10. Name of local electric utility;  

11. Name of the solar developer involved with the project design and installation; and 

12. Any additional metric(s) deemed necessary to inform a permanent program, as 

 established by Board order with each application period.   



 

27 
 

(c) Data collection for Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects located in ADAs must include the parameters 

established at (b) above in addition to any other metric(s) deemed necessary to inform a permanent 

program pertaining to the project site, as established by Board order with each application period.   

(d) Data collection for Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects not located in ADAs must include the following 

information pertaining to crop production: 

1. Type of crop; 

2. Sowing or transplanting date; 

3. Sowing or transplanting rate; 

4. Harvest date for both the solar array covered area and research control areas, separately;  

5. Crop yield for both the solar array covered area and research control areas, separately;  

6. Information on whether having an agrivoltaic array on-farm has led the farmer to introduce, 

expand, decrease, or stop production of specific crops; and 

7. Any additional metric(s) deemed necessary to inform a permanent program, as established by 

the Board order for each application period. Additional metrics may include data on the impacts of 

agrivoltaics on farm viability and data on farmers’ experiences with agrivoltaics, including challenges 

encountered and adaptations made to farm operations due to the introduction of agrivoltaics. 

(e) Data collection for Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects located in ADAs must include the parameters 

established at (d) above for crop production, in addition to the following:   

 1. Pre-planting soil prep, including dates; 

2. Type of pre-planting soil prep; 

3. Sowing or transplanting equipment used; 

4. Applications of fertilizer, including dates, rates, and equipment; 

5. Applications of chemicals, including dates, rates, and equipment; 

6. Post-planting soil and crop maintenance; 

7. Equipment used for post-planting soil and crop maintenance; 



 

28 
 

8. Irrigation methods, including dates and rates, if applicable; 

9. Harvesting equipment used; 

10. Post-harvesting soil maintenance, if applicable; and 

11. Post harvesting cover crop planting and maintenance, if applicable. 

(f) Data collection for Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects not located in ADAs must include the following 

information pertaining to animal production: 

1. Type of animal; 

2. Type of grazing strategy, including procedures, dates, and number of grazing days; 

3. Average start weight of animals when put on pasture, including date; 

4. Yield of hay/silage; 

5. Supply of drinking water, including name and type of system and rate; 

6. Average end weight of animals when removed from pasture, including date, if applicable;  

7. Grass maintenance after animals are removed from pasture, including dates, if applicable; 

8. Direct reporting on whether having an agrivoltaics array on-farm has led the farmer to 

introduce, expand, decrease, or stop production of specific livestock types; and 

9. Any additional metric(s) deemed necessary to inform a permanent program, as established by 

Board order with each application period. Additional metrics may include data on the impacts of 

agrivoltaics on farm viability and data on farmers’ experiences with agrivoltaics, including challenges 

encountered and adaptations made to farm operations due to the introduction of agrivoltaics. 

(g) Data collection for Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects located in ADAs must include the parameters 

established at (f) above for animal production in addition to the following: 

 1. Grass maintenance, including fertilizers, chemicals, dates, and rates; 

2. Equipment used for grass maintenance; 



 

29 
 

3. Procedures and equipment used for hay/silage production, including dates; and 

 4. Equipment used for pasture maintenance after animals are removed, including dates, if 

applicable. 

(h) Data collection for all Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects pertaining to environmental conditions, 

including but not limited to, air temperature, solar radiation, relative humidity, and soil temperature, must 

adhere to the procedures set forth in this subsection. 

 1. Data should be recorded in time intervals of no longer than one hour.  

2. If recording a single value for a specific time interval, that value should be the average 

measurement of all the measurements collected during that time interval.  

3. All environmental data should be collected in duplicate: One measurement at a representative 

location in the control area, which is unobstructed by any solar panel, and the other at a comparable 

location in the dual-use area impacted by the solar panels. The locations must be those which were 

approved in the most recent version of the COMPR for the Selected Project.  

4. Sensors should be calibrated and re-calibrated as needed, according to manufacturers’ 

recommendations. 

(i) Data collection for Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects not located in ADAs must include the following 

information pertaining to environmental conditions: 

 1. Solar radiation measured horizontally; 

2. Air temperature using an aspirated box; 

3. Air relative humidity using an aspirated box; 

4. Soil temperature at 6 inches below the surface; 



 

30 
 

5. Soil volumetric water content at 6 inches below the surface; and 

6. Any additional metric(s) deemed necessary to inform a permanent program, as 

established by Board order with each application period.   

(j) Data collection for Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects located in ADAs must include the parameters 

established at (i) above for environmental conditions in addition to precipitation, including date and 

amount. 

(k) Data collection for all Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects must include the following information 

pertaining to solar array performance: 

 1. Electricity production using time intervals of no less than one day; 

2. For net-metered projects, monthly accounting of any additional electricity purchased from the 

local utility; 

3. Income to farmer/landowner from lessee for projects with a leased array site; 

4. Performance of individual solar panels, if available; 

5. Solar irradiance as measured at the array, such as a sensor attached to a tilting panel, if 

applicable; 

6. Maintenance and repairs to the solar equipment, if applicable; and 

7. Any additional metric(s) deemed necessary to inform a permanent program, as established by 

Board order with each application period.   

(l) Data collection for all Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects must include the following information pertaining 

to general attitudes, experience with dual-use, and policy views: 



 

31 
 

 1. Survey scale to examine the overall valence of farmers’ views toward agrivoltaics as an 

agricultural technology and how this changes with further experience; 

2. General reporting of challenges farmers encountered with agrivoltaics, including whether or how 

these challenges were overcome, and whether adaptations were made to farm operations due to the 

introduction of agrivoltaics; 

3. Farmers’ views regarding possible public policies that would encourage or advance agrivoltaics 

in New Jersey; and 

4. Any additional metric(s) deemed necessary to inform a permanent program, as established by 

Board order for each application period.   

 

14:8-13.11 Compliance and remediation 

(a) In cases involving the failure of a Selected Project team to comply with the terms and conditions for 

participation in the Pilot Program including any conditions specified by the Board in an order, the Board 

reserves the right to impose penalties on a Selected Project commensurate with the documented infraction. 

Board staff shall document the terms or conditions violated, share the findings with the Selected Project 

team, and explore opportunities to cure the violations. In cases where the project team is unable or 

unwilling to cure the violations, the Board may: 

 1. Order the dual-use incentive to be withheld until the violation is resolved; 

2. Seek rescission of the dual-use incentive paid to the project for a period of time to be determined 

by the Board; or 

3. Require the developer to decommission the project pursuant to N.J.A.C. 14:8-13 and make the 

land suitable for its prior agricultural or horticultural usage. 



 

32 
 

(b) The NJDA may request that the Board suspend or revoke an approval issued pursuant to this 

subchapter for a violation of any term or condition of the approval or any provision of this subchapter, 

unless caused by force majeure. 

 1. In the case of force majeure, the Board may determine, in consultation with the NJDA, that the 

applicable event or circumstances caused the violation. 

 2. Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects awarded incentives in the Pilot Program as an Adder or a 

supplemental incentive under the ADI Program or CSI Program pursuant to N.J.A.C. 14:8-11 must adhere 

to the applicable requirements for the lifetime of the project and these requirements shall be enforceable 

under this subchapter. 

(b) The Board shall work with the NJDA to audit compliance with the terms of the Pilot Program, 

including periodic site visits, and work with the Selected Project team to remedy any non-compliance with 

the requirements set forth in this subchapter in accordance with (c) below.  

(c) The Board or its designee shall contact the Selected Project team in writing that its Dual-Use Solar 

Energy Project approved to participate in the Pilot Program is not meeting the requirements of the Pilot 

Program. The Selected Project team shall be subject to the following enforcement procedure: 

1. The Selected Project team shall be placed on probation for a time period between 30 and 120 

days, within Board staff’s discretion (probationary period).  

2. The Selected Project team shall submit a remedial action plan to remedy the deficiency, or 

deficiencies, to the Board within 30 days of receiving written notification from the Board, for review and 

approval prior to implementing remedial action. 

3. During the probationary period, any financial incentive in the form of the SREC-II shall be 

withheld pending successful resolution of the violation.  

4. If the Selected Project team fails to correct the deficiency or deficiencies, including implementing 

the remedial action plan approved by the Board, by the end of the probationary period, the Selected 

Project may be terminated from the Pilot Program, and the incentive for the dual-use pilot project 

suspended. 



 

33 
 

14:8-13.12 Decommissioning procedures  

(a) Decommissioning procedures for Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects applying for and approved as 

Selected Projects that will participate in the Pilot Program, at a minimum, must account for the following: 

1. The sequence for facility infrastructure removal and site restoration to prior agricultural 

conditions in the event that solar installations will be removed; 

2.  The party responsible for removal and restoration back to prior agricultural conditions in the 

event that solar installations will be removed; 

3. The party responsible for the costs of decommissioning; 

4. The prevention of topsoil within inter-panel row travel lanes from becoming compacted or 

otherwise co-mingled with subsoil layers by construction traffic; and 

5. Any additional procedure(s) deemed necessary to inform a permanent program, as established 

by Board order preceding each solicitation round or Program Year.   

 

14:8-13.13 Reporting and recordkeeping 

(a) The COMPR derived from a Selected Project’s application and associated conditions for approval shall 

form the basis of the primary reporting and recordkeeping tool documenting the project’s participation in 

the Pilot Program. 

(b) A COMPR shall be used in the evaluation of the individual project and in the evaluation of the Pilot 

Program to inform the design of a permanent dual-use program. 

(c) The COMPR shall be kept current over the life of the project with updates supplied by the project team 

and Board staff.  The COMPR will be posted to the Board’s public document website, including any 

updates submitted to the Board Secretary’s Office in consultation with Board staff. 

 1. The COMPR shall be kept updated throughout the term of a Dual-Use Solar Energy Pilot 

Program award and until the expiration of the 15-year qualification life. For the duration of the Pilot 



 

34 
 

Program, the COMPR shall be updated by the project team annually per the anniversary of the 

commencement of commercial operations for the Selected Project. 

(d) A Selected Project shall provide annual updates to Board staff on the status of its progress through a 

form to be made available by Board staff. Annual updates shall be due on the anniversary of the Selected 

Project’s commencement of commercial operations.  Selected Projects shall meet additional reporting 

requirements pursuant to this subchapter. 

(e) Requests from the Selected Project team to change any provision of the project must be submitted in 

writing to the Board Secretary and approved by Board staff in consultation with NJDA. Requests to 

modify a provision of the Selected Project will be reviewed and approved or denied in writing by Board 

staff within 30 days of receipt by the Board Secretary.  

(f) The Board must be notified, in writing, in case of sale, transfer, contract modification, or other material 

change to the Selected Project team initially listed in the dual-use solar application. Specifically: 

1. Within 30 days of a material change in control of the project, each new beneficial owner is 

required to provide formal notice and evidence to the Board of its individual and/or corporate name, tax 

ID, address, contact phone, and percent of ownership of the project. 

2. Within 30 days of a material change in the Dual-Use Solar Energy Project operator, such new 

project operator is required to provide formal notice and evidence to the Board of their individual and/or 

corporate names, tax ID, address, and contact phone. 

(g) Each Dual-Use Solar Energy Project owner, and any successor, shall retain a record of all COMPRs, 

including revisions thereto, contracts, disclosure forms, proof of eligibility, and generation allocation lists 

for a period of at least 15 years from the date of the project’s approval. Each of these documents must be 

made available within 14 business days upon request from the Board or Board staff. 

1. Dual-use solar developers and owners are responsible for complying with all subsequent 

revisions approved by the Board staff and maintaining a current copy of the COMPR on the public 



 

35 
 

document page of the Board’s website using the docket number assigned to the Selected Project’s 

application. 

2. Board staff shall inform a participant in the Pilot Program of non-compliance with a term or 

condition of approval of a Selected Project by written notice, which shall be emailed to the Selected Project 

team. The written notice shall include a description of any violation or conditions that require remediation 

and instructions for submitting a remedial action plan. A COMPR must be updated within 30 calendar 

days of the Board staff’s approval of the remedial action plan. 

3. The landowner listed in the COMPR is responsible for notifying the Board of any changes in the 

ownership of the land or change of farmer or solar operator. This notification will be done through a 

request to change provisions of the COMPR and must be submitted in writing to the Board Secretary and 

approved by Board staff in consultation with NJDA.    

 (h) The Board shall publish information pertaining to the Pilot Program on its website including, but not 

limited to: 

1. NOFA, instructions for filing a pre-application EOI, solicitation details, application 

requirements, forms, and evaluation criteria; 

2. The list of Selected Projects, including names, locations, sizes, and approval status; 

3. The total capacity of selected, registered, and approved Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects for each 

Program Year; 

4. Educational materials and resources; and 

5. Other information relevant to the status of the Pilot Program. 

(i) EDCs shall track the application to interconnect submitted by Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects and 

submit quarterly electronic reports to Board staff on Pilot Program interconnection status, within 30 days 



 

36 
 

of the end of the quarter being reported upon. The content of the reports shall include, but not be limited 

to: 

1. A list of Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects that submitted an interconnection application, including 

the project’s name, location, and proposed capacity; 

2. A list of Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects interconnected over the previous month, including 

name, location, and capacity; 

3. The cumulative totals since the beginning of the Pilot Program which shall include the total 

number of interconnection applications received for Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects, total number of Dual-

Use Solar Energy Projects interconnected, total capacity of Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects interconnected, 

and estimated total kilowatt hours supplied to the distribution system by Dual-Use Solar Energy Projects. 

    


	Cover Memo
	Agenda
	Approval of the April 17 2024 Meeting Minutes
	Attachments to the Minutes
	Notice: In the matter fo the dual-use solar energy pilot program

